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80 ? HIA SCHENKER, of 1734 Amsterdam Avenue,

" a witnees called in behalf of the People, being duly

sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, EDER:

Q TVhere do you live, Mise Sophia Schenker? A 1724
Amsterdam Avenue,

Q And do you go to High School? A Yes, sir,

Q And .vhat business is your father in? A Stationery
business,

Q Has he got a store? A Yes, sir,

Q And where is thatwatore? A At my home address,

Q At the same address? A Yes, oir,

Q And before you go to school in the morning, do you take
care of his store? A Yes, sir,

Q what time do you go to school? A Ae soon as my father
comes home I get dressed and 20 to school. He usually fgachel

the house and gets through delivering his papera,'about half
past seven, § -
Q He zoes out in the morning to deliver papers, and
leaves you in charge of the store until half pae% seven?
A Yes, sir,
Q And then he comes in, and you go to your High School?
Q “ee, 8ir,
Q Now do you remember the 37th of November, 18157t A Yes,

sir,




Q And did your father go out to deliver papers that

morning? A Yes, eir.

Q And did he leave you in charge of that store? A Yes,eir,

Q And do you remember Marian Chrystie coming into that
place on that morning? A Yes, 8ir; in the presence of Nr,
Joseph Brenner,

Q Tho came in with her? A Mr, Joeeph Brenner,

THE COURT: Is that the male co~defendant?
MR, EDER: Yes, sir,

n And when they both came into the store -- had you eier
eeen‘thcm before? A I had seen lr., Brenner before, but not
mise‘Chrystie. I don't recollect seeing him in my etore, but
at my paper stand, in front of the store, before that,

Q And on that morning Miss Chrystie and Brenner came in

together? A Yes, sir,

Q. Did Mr, Brenner say anything? A He said, "Hurry up.
we want to catch the car," or somethinz to that effect, and
Miss Chrystie said, "All right, I want to look at a birthday
card®,

Q Please raise your voice, And what did they say to
you or either of them? A Mise Chrystie eaid she wanted to
see a birthday card, aqq I said, "What price?" and she seaid,
"One cent", '

Q Now vhere do you keep those carde? A At the rear end

of the store,
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Q And did she go to the rear end of the store with yog?
A No, eir; ehe stood about the middle of the store, with
Mr, Brenner, and when I turned around to go up to the front of
the store, Ur, Brenner wzs no longer in the store, And I

have three shelf cases in my store, and I put the box of postal

cards on the third shelf case, and Mr, Brenner wasn't there then,

And Mies Chrystie looked over the cards and_said if I had any
views, and I took her up to the front of the store where the
views were on a rack in front of the store, and she only glanced
up and down at them, but did not take any of them in her hand,

And she said, "Oh, I won't take any cards just now, Give
me, a package of Perfcctiof{cig&fettee', and took a niékel out
of the palm of her hand, and paid for them, and walked out of
the store,

and I walked right out after her, and she stood at the
curb, and she turnedaround and looked at me, and walked across
the street,

And she only had a nickel in her hand, and when she left
the*ﬁtore, I went right back tq see 1f‘eometh1ng was missing,
but I never looked at my fountain pen caee, but only at my
watch case, because that was a much smaller case, and everything
was in good condition, A

And about five minutes later a customer, a gentleman,
came in and asked for the change of a quarter, and he put his

4

hand over where the fountain pen case was, and I went and looked
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to see where these people were, and I didn't see them, and

the orf;oer came in,

Q Did you see the Chrystie woman at any time after that?
A Yes, she came into my store again, and her friend, Mrs,
Brenner, was waiting for her outside.

® And did you then recognize her as the woman that came
in with Mr, Brenner? A Yes, sir; I even called my sister's

attention to the fact that she was the girl,

Q And did you say anything to her that day? A No, I
didn't. All that I did was to follow her,

Q Now where did you follow her to? A She walked acrose
the street, and I had no ﬁat or coat on, and I walked on this
side of the street (illustrating), while she was on the other
side of the street, with her friend.

Q Which friend? A Miss Brenner -- Mrss. Brenner --
pardon me, not Miss Brenner -- and they walked up to 147th
Street, the two young ladiee and they crossed on the side of
the street wh?re I was, and we kept.on walking, and I stopped
at a drug store to look in, because I didn't want them to know
I was following them, anl one of them said, "I wonder where
the fruit store is", just to let me hear that.

Ani then they wz2nt into the confectionery store, and there
wag an officer on duty outside of the store, and I spoke to him,
and he sent me up to the station house to get a policeman,

and meanwhile he was watohing the girle in the ice cream parlor,

a2
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and the Captain told me --
MR, CHANLER: Object=d to.
THE COURT: Sustained,
Q Fow did you again see those defendants? A Yes, sir,
0 Where? A They passed by my store, and they were
going into a chop suey house and they stopped off, and 21-0
Chrystie and Mise Brenner turned around and stared at me, and
she asked me who I was looking at, and I walked up to her, and
my father got an officer, and they were arrested,
Q And when the arrest was made the officer took.them into

your store? A Yes, sir.

Q Now did you hear the officer speak to either of the
defendants? A Yes, sir; 4in my store,
BY THE COURT:

Q Well, what did the defendant say? A Well, which one?

Q@ Either of them? A Miss Chrystie said -- the officer
spoke to her and he asked her --

Q@ No, what did she say? I didn't ask you what the officer
said, ve don't care for that, A In answer to-a question of
the officer, she said she was never in my store before,

Q Well did she say anything else? A She said she wasn't
in my store on the date of the robbery, that's what she eaid,
but she was in my store, though,

we want

Q Vo, What did she say? That is what/you to tell us,

not what the officer said, A Well, I am telling you,
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Q FNo. You say she was in your store, What did she say?
A She said tﬁat she wasn't in my store, the day of the rob-
bery, and never was in the store until three days previous to
this day when she was in there, the day of the arreet,

Q Vell did she say anything else? A And when the officer
was there, we explained the way --

Q Now what dii the defendants say? I don't care what the
officer said. I have told you often enough, Now will you
please do what I tell you to do? Or I will tell you to leave

the stand, A MNises Brenner said, "You will have to prove that

Marian Chrystie was the one that walked out with the goods.
Naybe the man did it."

Q Vell, was anything else said by them or either of them?
A Marian Chrystie told the officer -- she admitted -~

Q No, not what she admitted, What did she say? A She
8aid that she was in my store, and that she did help Nr,
Brenner steal the fountain pens, X

MR, CHANLER: No, I want the words, your Honor, That

is a conclusion,
BY THE COURT:

Q Well nowv, what did she say? A She said that she had
come into th: store on the morning of the robbery, and that
Mr, Brenner waL;ed out of the store, with the pens, while she

stood there and kept my interest on her, And she did say

that --




BY MR, EDER:

Q Now did she say what happened to the pens, whnt;gge
done with them? A They took the fountain pens to Mies B:en-
ner's apartments, 37 Bradhurst Avenue, where theygggre living
then, and they were taken up on the roof -- Mr, Brenner took
them up on the roof -- and broke open the case there, and she
said that she gave -- that Mr, Brenner gave liss Brenner one
pen, and she accepted it, and she said that they had -- she
said that they had -- that Mr,., and ¥rs, Brenner had --

MR, CHANLER: Is that binding on my client, your
Honor?

THE COURT: No, this statement affects only one of
the defendants, the one who made it, after the completion
of the alleged crime.

#R, CHANLER: And was the other defe?&ant present?

THE CODRT: It is not binding on thejs%ber defendant
at all, unledd the other defendant joined in the conversa-
tion,

A (Answer continued) And she said that Nr. and Mrs,
Brenner had been in our store -- at least, Nr, Brenner had been
in our store a week previous to this robbery, every single night,
but didn't have any chance, because there was always more than
one person in the store, to take the fountain pen case. E%ut,
as tﬁey couldn't take it then, and Mrl;'Brenner was supposed to
take it -- that Marian Chrystie wasn't supppsed to help MNr,

T
" r
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Brenner get away with it -~ that Mre. Brenner was supposed to
take 1\:‘but she was too nervous to take it, and so Marian

came“in, the nex+ morning, and she hadn't had anything to eat

for .a couple of days, and Mr, Brenner said they needed money,
and they were all in poor circumstances,

BY MR. EDER:

== S

Q That is what she told you? A Yes, eir; in the pres-
ence of the detective and two other officers. h

Q Now where did you say those pens were in the store? -
A They were on our first case, laying on top of the case,

' Q And how many pens had you there? A Well, I couldn't
say the exact number, but I know there wasn't less than twenty
pens; that I could swear to, ]

Q And what were the prices of the pens? A Well, the
value was $55, A*hefherlf% wis more or not, I don't know, but
}the approximate value was $55, ’

Q You got that lot of pens in for Christmas? A Yes,
air; well, we had some of them, but we filled out the order,
BY THE COURT:

Q Now which of the women do you say told you all thie in
the store? Go down and put your hand on her, on the one that
made tpnse atate;;nt; to y6u? A (Indicating Marian Chrystie)
This;qgé. |

’5 And that is the girl that told you all these things,
you 88ly? A Yes, sir, And Mre. Brenner didn't say any-

Ay wlt i

twﬁh -
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thing there, she didn't say anything to me or to anyone else

there, All that ehe said was, "You will have to prove that

this ‘zirl here did the stealing. Maybe the man did it."
Q "ell now have you told us all that she said? A Yel,sif.
Q And she said nothing else? A TFo, seir, '
BY MR, EDER:
Q Did you see Joseph Brenner at any time after that?

A VNo, sir; not until in Court, not until I saw him in Court, (

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, CHANLER:

A

Q You saw these girls walking by the store, about three

weeks after you missed the pens? A No, sir, Three days after

they had come into my store -- three weeks after the robbery,
>
you see, :
Q Well, then you misunderstood me, ‘How long after the

missing of the pens did you see these girls again? A VWVell,
about three weeks later,

Q Yes, that's what I asked you, A But you asked me
about paseing the store,

Q Vell I don't care about that, I asked you if you saw
them anywhere? A Yes,

Q And they walked into your store together, three weeks
later? A VNo, eir; uise Chrystie came in, and the other one

waited outside,

T

The same girl that had gone into your store with Joseph

'.
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Brenner before? A Yes, sir,

0 And you eaw them again? A Yes, 8ir; three or four
days -- at least, the night of the arrest I‘aaw them, December
3lst, paesing by, They didn't make a stop‘then.

Q And you followed them? A ©No, sir; they stopped off

and waited for me,

#°_Q You kept them in sight? A TFo, eir; they Vaibed-fgr

L T L]
me to go over for them, e 2 e

3 o | WA N
Q Well, at all events you isaw them? ‘A 3’?ﬁ‘ea, @ir,

Py

'R X .
0 Three weeks after the loss of the pens? I am not

trying to mix you up, but trying to get 1t?clear in my head,
I

A Can I just explain? > fb+_ P
THE COURT: No; you must ansver the counsel's ques-
tions,
BY THE COURT:
Q Now the pens were taken on a certain day? A Yes, sir,
Q Anl three weeks later you saw these women, and follqwed
them? A Yes, sir,
Q And three days afterwards they were arrested? A Yes,sir,
BY MR, CHANLER:
Q@ Tnree days after you saw them where? A They were going
into & house, and ae they were going in, they atoppedyoff and
. = L
looked at me, and asked me who I was looking at == I dop't know

which one put the question to me, but one of them did, and I

said, "Will you speak to me a minute, please?" And my father
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went over and got the officer,
BY MR, CHANLER:

Q Now will you speak a little louder? Did you ask your
' father to get the officer? A ©No, sir; I had told pa in the
store that these were the girls,

Q And you merely talked to the girie while your father
got the officer? A Yes, sir,

§ And your father brought the officer back? A Yes, sir,
Q And the officer went into the store with boththese

girls? A Yes, sir,

Rl

Q And the officer asked these girls a good many questions,
did he not? A Yes, sir,

Q And it was the answers to the questions by the officer,

the answere given by the girls, that you are endeavoring to

remember? A Well, not only that officer, but, the detectives
o

put questions to them, They were both separated and one in

the back and ths other in the front of the store, e tele-

phoned for the officers in my own home, and two detedfives
came,

1
Q And then the detectives separated the girls? A Yes, sir;|

there were two detectives, . 5

Q And were you preaenf when each of the girls was being
interrozated? A No, sir; I cowuldn't be. Mres. Brenner re-
fueed to speak,

BY THE COURT: .
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Q But you were present when she refused to speak? A Yes,

sir,

Q You heard the detectives put the questions to them?

A Yes, sir,

Q And you heard the answers made by one of them? A Yes,sir,
0 And you heard the other one refuse to sreak? A Yes,
gir; but I wasn't --
THE COURT: Now keep quiet, and just answer the ques-
tions of counsel, please. He has a perfect right to ask

them,

BY MR, CHANLER:
Q The officer put a great many questions to the Chrystie
girl? A Yes, sir.
2 About how mény questicne did the officer put to this
girl?
MR, EDER: I object to that as immaterial,
* THE COURT: ‘ Sustained,
MR, CHANLEB: Exception, ,
BY MR, CHANLER:

Please tell me exactly what wase said by the officer
to the defendant Brenner, and what was said by the defendant
Brenner in reply, if you can recall i1t? A why, I was only
at one place at one time,

BY THE. COURT:

“'n  Please tell what was said, is what counsel asks you

to do, A Well, I was in the back, where the deteotive was
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speaking to Miss Chrystie.
BY MR, CHANLER:

Q Now pleéase tell us what every policeman shere said
to these girls, and begin at the beginﬁing. Please state
what the policemen said to these girls., A The detective said,
"Miss Chrystie, do you know me?" And she said no; she hadn't
ever seen him before, And he said yes, he knew her, and he
started to tell about different people she was living with, and
kiss Brenner, too. And he s2id he kne~ where they lived, at
145th Street and Bradhurst Avenue;‘ and Miss Chrystie said her
husband was in Boston, and she expected him on for Christmas,

0 Now you were only asked what the detective said to
them, Tell ever ything what was 82id, A And then he asked
her about a sailor and a chauffeur and different people that
he thought she knew, Do you want this one detective?

Q No, Give all that any detective said to these de-
fendants, or either of them there, A And another officer
said that he kng: the girls, too, He said that he had seen
them before, And then she said that -- he asked her about the
date of the robbery, and at firet she denied all knowledge.
And then I wasn't in the room at the time, but I was told --

¥R, CHANLER: No, then don't tell what you didn't
hear, or what was said when you were not present,
THE WITNESS: Very well,

BY THE COURT:
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Q Now what was said furthar at that time when you

were present? A That's all,
BY MR, CHANLFER:

Q And did-you yourself hear them, the detectives, speak
to each of the women? A No, eir; I only heard detective
Birmingham speak to Mise Chrystie, but I saw Mr. McCormick
speaking to Mrs., Bremner, but I don't know what she said in
answver to his questions, I w;e in the back of the store with
¥ise Chrystié and the other detéctive,

Q Now have you told us all that the officer said there?

MR, EDER: Objected to.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR, CHANLER: Exception, That's all,

THE COURT: 0Of course, you know what fhe policemen
said is not evidence against these girls. Itzié only

hat they said that is evidence, and thatis wﬁyx have

ruled out what the policemen said, with a desire only to
protect their legal rights,

MR, CHANLER: I am doing that, your Honor,

THE COURT: No, it is the duty of the Court primarily
to do that, to protect the rights of the defendants,
I have endeavored to exclude testimony as to what the
detectives may have said in the way of questions to the
d‘fcndan‘l, andétgmadmit only ®hat th;‘dofondantl answered,

because that is the evidence, and not the questions of
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the officers, and I BHave tried to make that clear,

MR ,CHANLER: Well, it may have been clear to your
Honor, but it waen't to myself, and I tried to clear it
up in my own mind at least By the questions I asked about
the officers.

THE COURT: Well, you understood that we took up
:his case this afternoon at the request of the District
Attorney, because he said that this girl had to pass the
Regents' examination next week, and could not be here on
lMonday or Tuesday, and it was agreed that we should only
take her testimony and then adjourn,(becauae I had to
attend a meeting of the Judges of this Court on a very
important matter. I have assigned you to this case, I
think, but I will not assign you to’any more., My most
important duty is to see that the defendants receive a

fair trial,

&

TR
Il

. CHANLER: I think that is my duty,

(PHE COURT: Well it i1e my duty as well, to see that

o
*he;'rqceive a fair trial, a legal trial, and that ie the
reason why I have excluded as far as possible what was
said by the officers, We will suspend here,

(The Court admonished the jury in accordance with
Bection 415 df the Code of Criminal Procedure, and
adjourned the further trial of the case to Monday morning,

January 10th, 1916, at ten-thirty o'eclock,)

3

!l
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TRIAL RESUMED:
" New York, January 10th, 1916,

THE COURT: Mr, Chanler, before we take up this
case, I want to say that I took great pains to shut out
rhat I deemed 111qgal and improper evidence in this case,
but the conplaining witness was rather difficult to
handle, She ineisted upon mentioning thingse that were
not legal evidence; and which would hﬁrt the defendants,
in my opinion, and that is the only reason why I sought
to exclude certain msvidence, And, besides, the céie was
taken up under the misapprehension that she could not be
here today, and” just to give her an opbortunity to tell
her story,

Now, if you think that anything that has been done or
said in any way militates against your clients, why you
have a right to have another jury,.

MR, CHANLER: No, eir; I don't wish to.

THE COURT: You are willing to go on with this jury?
. CHANLER: Yes,. eir,

THE COURT: You understand that my desire is to give
everyone a fair trial, and I think that is my duty, to
see that these women get a fair trial, and to exclude
anything that is improper, or anything that may prejudice
them, or any defendant, That 18 the only object I

have in the caese,




- furnished room, and that the three of them slept in one bed.

18
RICHARD A, BIRMIUNGHAN, of the Fourth

Branch Detective Bureau, a witness called in behalf of

the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, EDER:

0 You are a detective attached to the Fourth Branch De-
tective Bureau? A I ar,

Q And do you remember the firet time you saw the de-
fendante? A Yes, s8ir,

Q At what place? A 1734 Amesterdam Avenue, in a stationery
store,

Q And that stationery store is owned by the complaining

witness in this case, Schenker? A Yes, sir,

0 When vas it that you saw them firsty A "Between half

past eight or nine o'clock in the evening.,

0 And did you have a conversation with either of them?
A, Yes, 8ir; with both,
@ Now tell ue what this Chrystie girl s2id to you and
what you said to her?
THE COURT: About this case only, officer, Remem-
ber that, 5
A This defendant, Marian Chrystie, told me she was living
at the time of this larceny at 37 Bradhurst Avenuej in a fur-

nished room, with the defendant Nayfred Brenner and a man

named Joseph Brenner, the three of them living in the one
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MR, CHANLER: If your Honor please, I object to

that,

THE COURT: Yes, strike that out, I said that you
were to testify only as to this alleged laréeny, officer.

Now I again ask you to limit your testimony to this

T
rarticular charge. : 4
§: T
BY MR, EDER:
Q Now what wae said about this larcenf?
' MR, CEANLFR: Do I understand, if your Honor please,
that this is evidence of one defendant, in the absence
" of the other?
THE COURT: Well, the only thing we care about is o
vhatwas said about this case, and it is not binding on
the other defendant, because it was after the alleged .
crinme, Now, officer, the jury will not be inclined to
believe anything that you say, if you are apparently
desirous of bringing in other matters, after I have re-
peatedly told you to confine yourself to the crime charged
here, %
BEY MR, EDER: .
Q State what she said to you about these pens, A'Dshe
said, the day before the larceny, that Joseph Brenner and
Vayfred Brenner went to the store, in the morning, and that
Mayfred Brenner got nervous, and had to leave the store, sﬁd
go back again, i
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And then she said that the following morning, that Mayfred
Brenner asked her to go with Joseph Bremnner to the store, and
they renf there, and she went in and bought a birthday card
in the rear of the store, and Joseph Brenner entered at the
same time, while she engaged the young girl in the store, and
went out, and took the fountain pens, which was in the case,
BY THE COURT:

Q0 Now which girl told you that? A Marian Chrystie,

Q Well which ie Marian Chrystie? Point her out? A The
girl on the end there (indicating)., And then she met Joseph
Brenner, and they went to 37 Bradhurst Avenue,

n Well did she tell you how many pens were taken? A She
did not, but there has been fourteen pens returned, And she
then met Joseph Brenner and they went to 37 Bradhurst Avenue
to the furnished room, and there met the defendant Mayfred
Brenner in the 2partment, and Joseph Brenner we;t‘to the roof
of that apartment house, and broke open the box wiih the foun-
tain pens in, and brought them dp%n{to the apartment, and gave
Marian Chrystie one of the pens,,and he gave one also to May-
fred Brenner, the other defendant, and that he went out and
disposed of the balance of the pens, /

BY MR, EDER:

o Did he tell you what he was to do withthe balance ~--

X

with the money obtained by the disposal of the balance of the

pens? A Yes; s8he said they were very hard up, and had
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nothing to eat, and he bought food with the money.

Q Did you have any convereation with the other female
defendant? A Yes, sir; and she said that she accepted one
of the pens, when they brought them into the apartment; and,
the foliowing day, Joeepy Brenner toock it away from her and
p&rned . § 1

Q@ It was Chrystie that gave you the man's name, was it
not? A Yes,{sir.

Q Tolduyou who Joseph Brenner waé? A Yes, sir,
. FIW»Q Did she tell you where he was} A She told me he was
in the City Hospital,
THE COURT: Well, what has that to do with it?

How is that material?
BY MR, EDER:

Q And you then arrested the three of themf A Yes, sir,

) And were you in the Police Court when this Chrystie
woman was arraigned? A I was,
BY THE COURT:

7 You have no personal knovwledige of the transaction at
all, You didn't see them steal the pens, if they did steal

them, and don't know anything about the stealing at all?

A No, sir; I don't,
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CROSS EXANINATION BY MR, CHANLER:

Q There was another officer with you, was there not?
A Yes, eir; officer McCormick,

Q He stayed with the Brenner girl, while you talked with
the Chrystie girl, in anotPer part of the store; 1isn't
that so? A UNo, eir; not all the time. Sometimes I talked
to the Brenner girl and he talked to the Chrystie girl,

Q Didn't the Brenner girl refuse to say anything? A Yes, .
.sir; part of the time, '

Q Did you inform either of them as to their rights?

A 1 did,

Q How long were you in that store, on that occasion?
A About two hours,

Q During those two houre were you talking most of the
time to the Chrystie girl? A No, I went to their furnished
room, at 503 West 147th Street,

Q And how long weredyou in that store? Two hours,

did you say? A Yes, sir, Detective McCormick was there

about two houre and I was there about an hour and a half,




Q During the hour and a half were.you talking most of the

time with the Chrystie girl? A. Most qf the time, yes.

Q Did it take you an hour and half to have the conversation
which you had with the defendant, Chryetie? A No.

Q When you came to the store, on that afternoon. you saw

the two defendante together, did you not? A I did.

Q Where were they etanding? A By the counter, in the station-

ery store.

Q And who w-s with you? A The police officer on the post.

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY -MR. EDER:

Q You never had any trouble with either of the defendants
be fore, did .you? A Wo, sir.

Q You didn't know them before? A No, sir.

VR. EDER: The People rest.

BRY THE COURT:

Q Officer McCormick knows no more about the case than you
do? A No, sir. I was aseigned to the case firet.

MR, CHANLER: Now I ask your Honor to advise
the jury to acquit as to the dofonda;t Brenner,
firet, upon the charge of larceny.

THE COURT: Well, I will have to deny the

motion.

MR, CHANLFR: And I make the motion separately

as to each, first, as to larceny, and, aeooﬁdly,

a8 tc receiving stolen goods.
F |



.

THE COURT: 1 think I will allow both tc stand.

»

weonmigged

MR. CHANLER: Exception.

THE COURT: If the jury find that they were zot"
concerned in the larceny, they may find that they received
the proceeds of the larceny, knowing that they were stolen,
or they may find thet they are not guilty of any crime. I
think I will allow the whole indictment to stand. But I am

rather vague as to the testimony as to value. The jury will

understand that it must be proven beyond a reéaonable doubt
that the pene'were worth more than fifty dollars, before they
can convict,-if at all, of grand larceny in the second
degree, and,if that proof is not clear, they must find them
guilty only of petty larceny, or not guilty.

MR, CHANLER: And I formally move that your Honor
take away from the jury the charge of grand larceny in the
second degree.

THE COURT: Well, I will submit that question to the
jury. There is some evidence as to value, and I do not_anw
how the jury may regard it.

MR. CHANLFR: Exception. And I move that the Brenner
girl be acquitted, on the questiocn of either larceny, or
receiving etolen goocde. There is no evidence, except a
statement by the officer, that_ahe said one end was given
to her, andwae afterwards taken from her.

THE COURT: Well, if she knew that the pene that
<




she received were stolen, that would make her guilty of

the orime of receiving stolen goods. It is all for the

jury, on the evidence, as to whether the defendants are
guilty of any offense whatever; and, if guilty of any
offense, whether it was grand larceny in the second
degree, petty larceny, or receiving stolen gocds, or not
guilty.

MR. CHANLER: I except.

(The Court sdmonished the jury in acocordance with

Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, and tock

a recess until two o'clock.)

SRS Yep—
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AFTER RECESS.

THE COURT: Now, if you wieh to recall the complainant,

and further croee examipe her, you may do ‘s®.
MR. CHANLFR: No, sir. I concluded my cross examination

on Friday.

THE COURT: On Friday, I told you that wewere about to have
a meeting of the Judges, and that I wanted yocu to have the
testimony of the witnese concluded by 3.45, .4€ possible,

-

but I believe she is here to-day, and you may crose ex-

amine her further, if you wish.
MR, CHAVLFR: No, sir. I am content with the

[

crose examination on Friday.

THE DEFENSE.

J O S~é P H BREUNVNER, of 407 West 147th Street,
a witnese called on behalf of the Defense, being duly
eworn, testified as follows:
e DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, CHANLER:
‘4 ‘ Q Brenner, you are a defendant in this case? A Yes, sir.
Q One of the defendants in this case? -A Yes, s8ir.
Q You have pleéded guilty .to the theft of those pens?

A Yes, eir.

Q Did ycgﬁsteal those pene? A Yes, sir.



BY THE COURT:
Q How many peha? A There were abtout eix or eight.
Q Why, they recovered fourteen, the officer says?
A (No answer)
BY MR. CHANLER:
Q You stole the pens? A Y€g, sir.
THE COURT: Well, how many is important, now, as to
the value.
MR, CHANLFR: Well, I am only aek}ng, your Honor,

in connection with these women.

Q Did either of these girls have anything to do with the
/7

stealing of those pens? A wyo, seir.

Q Or receive any of them from you? A No, eir.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. EDER:

Q What time in the morning did you go in to get those
pens? A I left the house about five o'clock, to look for a
jobe.

Q What time did you get into the store, and take those
péne? A I don't remember whether it wae seven, or eight or
nine o'clock. It waes between eight and nine o'clock.

Q Wasn't it seven o'clock in the morning? A I am not poe-
mitively sure.

Q And how long have you known Marian Chryetie? A Well, I

have only known her for a short time.




Q About how long? A About a month.

Q A month prior to the‘tine that you went into that
store; is that right? A Yes, eir.

Q ‘And she lived in the same house that you did; did she?
A She lived on the second floor.

0 On the same house? A Yés, eir.

Q And she wag a friend of Mrs. Brenner, your lady friend;
is that right?t A Yes, eir.

Q Now, you are no; married to qufield Brennep? A Yo, sir.

Q And you lived with her, didn;t you, in the same rooms?
A Well, not all the time.

Q At any time? A Yes, sir.

Q And 4id you see Marian Chrystie in that store with you,
on the morning that you went in there? A wo, eir.

Q You didn't see her there at all? A I met her on the

street, on the avenue.

{

Q At seven o'clock in the morning? A Well, it was between
seven and eight, or eight 'and nine.
Q And'you met her on the avenue, and told her that you were
going in that store? A wo, sir.
Q You knew what you were going there for, didn't you?
A vwo, Bir,
Q Were you ever in that store before? A wo, sir.
I had been in the store several timed, buying something, yes.
Q And do you know whether Mayfred Brenner was in that

store befogp[‘A I don't know,
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Q Well, at any rate, you walked into the store with her?
A Yes, Marian Chrystie. |
Q And she told you she is going to buy something, didn't
ehe? A Yes.
Q And did she ask you to go into the store with her?
A I asked her whereshe was going, and she said, "I am going up
the avenue here, to buy some postal carde."

Q And where did you live then? A 37 Bradhurst Avenue,
near 145th Street.

Q And she lived in the same house?A Yes, eir.

Q And where was the stationéry store? A 147th Street, I
think, two blocks above where we lived.

0 And when she said that she was going to buy some postal
cards, what happened? A I said, "Can I go with you?" And
she said, 2} don't care. You can come along, if you want to."

Q And did she ask for postal cards when you went into the
store together? A I don't know, sir, because she was in the
back of the store with the girl.

Q And then you stole the pens? A When I eaw the pens
on the case -~ I saw the box on the counter, and I knew that
we needed money, and hadn't paid our rent for two weeks, and
I walked out with the box,

Q And you went to 37 Bradhurst Avenue with them? A No, sir.
I took the pens, and I didn't go home at all all day. I got
rid of t%em, to pay rocm rent.

Q Didn't Marian Chryetie meet you, and go up to the roof of
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your house with you? A Yeés, sir.

Q And then you went up to the roof of the house, and

broken open the box? A Well, I was taken to the hospital, and
three weeks after --
BY THE COURT:

Q No. What did you do that day? That was the question?
A I went to the hospital three weeke after.

Q You mean you forget what you did on that day? A I wrote
a letter to Miss Marian Chrystie --

Q No. On this particular day you didn't go to the hospital,

did you? You haven't been in the hospital since you stole

the pens? A No, sir.

Q Well, what did you do when you astole the pens? A I
pawned some of them, and I got money for room rent, and I
paid the two weeks' room rent, which wasn't enough, which
was only five dollare,vind I went down to my brother's office,
and asked him for the money to pay room rent.

BY MR. EDER:

Q How maﬁy\pene 4id you pawn? A pour or five I pawned.

Q What didvyou do with the‘;eet of them? A 1 gave them to a
friend of mine to hold them ;nd loan me some money, a man that
I knew from downtown. We went to school together.,

Q What is the name? A Henry Arrow,

Q Where did you meet him? A At Third Avenue and 56th Street,

downtown,
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Q That morning? A Yes, eir, I wae just on my way to my

brother's.
Q You met him accidentally? A Well, he works there, 56th
Street.
Q Did you know if he worked there then? A No, sir, I
asked him what he was doing, and he said, "I work right there."
Q But you met him accidentally? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, the night before, had you slept with this woman,
Mayfred Brenner?
THE COURT: Well, we will exclude that. He said he
wae living with her.
BY MR. EDER:
Q Had you been in the house with Mayfred , the night be-
fore? A I didn't come home until six o'clock that day.
Q (Question repeated) A I left the house in the morning.
Q Had you slept in that house that night, I mean, the night
before the ?ygaling of those pens; had you been in the house
with Mayfred Brenner? A Yes.
Q And did you see Marian Chryestie there? A No, sir.
Q You 4idn't see her there that night at all? A No, eir.
Q You had been wonvicted for petty larceny befpro this,
hadn't you? A Yés, not for that, though.
Q And ycu served three monthe in the Penitientiary, from

the Bpecial Sessions? A Yes, sir.

\__\; ;

BY THE COURT:

Q Where did you/get the money to buy postal cards, if
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you had no money at that time? A I hadn't any. I had only care

fare to go downtown, and I walked uptown because I couldn't find
a job. I couldn't get my room rent, .and my brother used to give ﬁ
me my roén rent. !
BY MR~EDER:

Q When was the last time you worked? A I work;d for the
International Baking Company, 374 Grand Street.

Q When did you work there? A Well, I worked there about

three months. g b |

Q How long ago? A From June -- June, July and August. I

don't know exactly though. I worked there about three months.

BY THE COURT:

Q Is that the only job you had? A No, sir, I worked for --

Q No. I mean last fall? A I went in the restaurant business.

Q Were vou working for anybody at the time of this larcency?

A Before that?

Q UNow, you went into this place and stole some pens, you
say? A Yes,

Q Were you working for anybody then? A No, sir, I was out
of work.

Q How long had you been cut of work? A About three months.

Q And you hadn't done anything in all that time? A No,llir,
because I wae sick. v
BY MR. EDER: iy

1
Q And before you received your penitentiary sentence, did
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you work anywhere? A Yeés, sir.
0 Where did you work? A I worked in 1Blet Street, in a garage.
0 What did you 4c there?A Everything, working on the

floor,

QAnd how long 4id you work there? A About eight months.

Q And did you work for anybody before that? A I worked for
my sister three years, over three years. :

Q Now you are trying to save. these two girls, aren't you?

A wo, sir, I am telling the truth. They didn't have anything
to do with it. |

R Did you give them any fountain pens? A No, sir.

Q And you never told them that you stole these pens?
A No, sir.

] OThey never knew it? A After the three weeks I went to the
hospital, and I wrote a letter to Marian Chrystie, that I took
the pens, but I didn't tell her where, and told her she shouldn't
sey anything to Mayfred.

Q She didn't ask anything about the pens, three ‘eeks after
the stealing; dié she? A I haven't seen her, ihwasfﬁ@;the
hospital.

Q How did you come towrite her a letter about the pens?

A I just simply told her that I took the pens, and didn't want
to keep  them for myself, and wanted her to know about it,

QWhat occasion had you to write 2 letter about stealing the

pene? Did she aek anything about 1t7 A No, sir
’ .
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Q Well, why did you write her about it? A Well, just
I wrote to her,

Q Why? Did you want to tell her that you were a thief?
A I wanted to tell her that that was where I got the money to
pay the rent.

Q You wanted to tell her thst that was where you got the
money to pay the rent? A Yes, eirr

MR, EDER: That is all.

MARIATN OTTO, indicted as Marian Chrystie, one

. of the defendants, of 503 West 147th Street, being duly
eworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, CHANLER:

Q What ie your right name? A Marian Otto. Marian Chrystie
is my stage name.

Q How longrhnve yogmbeen on the stage? A About three years.

Q When were you lést on the stage?! A Last September.

Q What Company were you plaeying in? A "Little Miess Broad-
way" Company. We traveled all over and came to Boston from
Montreal., And I left them at New Haven, Connectiéut. The
‘Company laid out the weeke in Boston, and I left them in
New London, Connecticut, and I went to my aunt's house in
Canada. I wae gone about ten months, and came back to Boston,
last September, and I cane‘to New York on the 13th day of

%

November.
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Q VNow, you have heard Brenner testify as to the day on

which he stole those pens? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, tell the jury whether or not at that time you were
living in the seme house with Brenner, and the other defendant,
or not? A I was living in 37 Bradhurst Avenue, in the same house
with Brenner and Mayfred Brenner, but I was living on the second
floor, in a rocm of my own, and theyilived on the floor beneath
me.

Q Now, how did you happen to meet Brenner on the day that
he stole the pensy A Why, Joseph Brenner l=ft the house, that
morning, to go to look for a position, an& I went up == the
next day was my little niece's birthday, and I went down there,
and got a teddy bear for her, and I went out on that morning
to get a birthday ocard, and I met Joseph Brenner.

And he =2id that he was out looking for a position, and
I said that I wee going to Amsterdam AVenue to get a card for
the baby's birthday, and he said, "Do you want me to walk up
with you?" And I eaid, "I don't mind."

And he walked as far as the store with me, and came
in, and he stopped in front cf the store, in the front of the
store, and I asked the girl for birthday cards, and she took
me to the second counter, and showed me the birtﬁday cards
there.

I had a 1ittle bleck puree, and I cpened it, and I only

discovered that I had five cente in. the pocketbock, because,
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the night before I had been out, and I had a big handbag with
all my chénge in it.

And 1 said to the girl,"Instead of takinc a birthday
card now, I will take a package of Perfection cigarettes, and
comé back later."

And while I was talking, Brenner went out of the store,
and I didn't see him until that afternoon, when he came home.

Q PNow, did you have anything to do with the stealing of
those pens? A wo, sire.

Q Did you know that he was going to steal them when yocu went
into the store? A No, sir. |

Q Did you talk to the girl for the purpose of letting Brenner
steal the pens? A No, sir; I went there for the purpose of buying
a birthday card for my little niece's birthday.

Q And did you receive any of the money, the proceeds of the
etealing of the pens, or any of the pens? A No, sir; and I
didn't receive any money from Joseph Brénner or any of the pens.

Q Now, when you "ere in the Police Court, you told -~ what
did you say when you were taken before the Judge? A I told
him --
BY THE COURT: /

Q No, what did you say to the Judée,xy;u are asked? A Well,
he 4idn't say anything to me, and I didn't say anything to
him.

Q What name did you give there? A Marian Chrystie.
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Q Didn't you say your name was Marian O'Neill? A ypo, sir.

Detective Birmingham asked me if I was married, and I eaid I
was, and I gave him that name, Marian O'Neill, as my maiden
nare, because he thought I was a married womanes
O The Judge got that ndme from you, then, Marian O'Neill?
"wA ”r_didn't speak to the Judge, your Honcr,
Q But you were brought before the Judge, were you not? A Yes,
sjr, but I didn't say anythinge.
Q What dces that say? (Ind{cating the Police Court papers)
A"l am guilty."
Q You s2id, "I am guilty."? A Yes, sir. Well, that is what
I am trying to explain.i
Q Well, you did say that you were guilty? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, then, you may explain it? A I told Detective Birming-
ham that I never was in aréourt before in my life, and I di&ﬁ't
know whether to plead guilty, or not guilty, and he said, ."Well,
Migs Chrystie, were you in the store at the time that the man
weze there?" And I said, "Yes."
And he s2id, "The best thing you can do is to plead guilty."®
And T told the man I waen't guilty of lsrceny, or helping
to steal, but wzes guilty of being in the store when the man was

preeent.
BY MR, CHANLER:
Q Where wos thie said? A Before the Clerk.

BY THE COURT:
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Q And you were brought out afterwsrds before the

e

Judge? A Yes, sir.

Q And the Judge csked you whether you signed this?
A The Judge never asked any questions, your Honor.

Q Do you want the jury/zzlieve that the judge signed
this without asking you any questions? A The Clerk 4id that.
He signed that, the Clerk.

Q Well, the Clerk wrote down your answers to various ques-
tions? A Yes, sir. - 3o

Q And then you wéfe taken beforeithe.gudge? A Yes, gir.

Q And he =sked you some nuestions? A No, sir, he didn't

ask me any questions. bty

Q Thern, do you mean to say that the Judée signed a falsx
etaﬁement? A Yo, eir, I don't say that.
PY MR, CHANLER:
0 You have never been in a police court before? A No, sir.
Q And you don't know how hurriedly they do things there?
MR, EDER: Objeoted to.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY THE COURT:

O Didn't you also waive examination? A Y®s, eir, The
detectives told ue to waive examiration. And we didn't say
we waived examination. It wes the detective, Detective
McCormick stood up and said we waived examination.

BY MR, CHAVLFR:
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Q And this happened in court? A Y€s, sir.

Q And you were taken out? A Yes.

Q And Mr., McCormick did the counsel for the defense act?

A Yes, he said that we waived examination.

0 Now, Officer Birmingham hds testified to a number of
statements made by you, How long were you in the store in the
afternoon, when Officer Birmingham w=2s there? A It was in the
evening. We went in about nine o'clock. In the evening, about
nine o'clock, we were passing by the store, ana this girl was

standing out, talking --

P

s

Q rhe compleinant?/ﬁ/xeﬁ] sir, talking to a lady. And she
seen ue pass by. :

And I noticed that, three nighte previous to that, this
girl followed us, andIsaid to my friend, " I wonder why that
girl is following us?"®

And thie night, three nighte later, she followed us, and
we stopped short, and hér fether came out from the stecre, and
the girl followed him out, and the father said, "Is this the
girl 7" And she said, "Yes, that is the girl."

And he grabbed me by the cort, and called for an officer,
and two officere in uniform i}me over, and he started telling
them about the fountain pens, and they séid, "We'll take
them into the =tore.”

And the two officers brought us into the store, and

one of the officers telephoned to the Detective Bureau,

M
f
and Mr. Birmingham and Mr. McCormick came up half an hour later,
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And Mr, Birmingham eaii,ko me, "What's your name?"
And I said, "Marian Chrystie."

And he said, "All right. Come back here. Iwant to walk
to you." ‘
And te talked to me, and the other officer talked to Mayfred,
and we were talking about an hour and a half, and at the

end of it, I iidn't admit to Mr, Birmingham that I was guilty

of being in the store with the man at the time. It was to

—_—

Mre. McCormick that I made the statement that I was the girl

in the store with Joseph Brenner at the time.
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Q Then it wasn't to officer Birmingham, but to officer

McCormick that you said you were in the store with the man?

A Yes, it was to officcr McCormick, because he was such a

gentleman, and spoke like a gentieman to me, and I answered
nis questions truthfully,

He said, "Mies Chrystie, I'm going to ask you a question"
just like a father, I want to kno§ what you did with the foun-
tain pens.," And I said, "I didn't have anything éo do with
the fountain pens, but, as far as that is concerned, I under-
stand Joseph Brenner sold some, and pawvned the rest,"

Aand he said, "All right; 1I'll have to take you to Head-
quarters," And officer Birmingham said, "I'm sorry, little
girl, I'm afraid you got into bad company,”

BY THE COURT: |

Q How did you know that he had pawned some and sold the
rest? A Wwhy, Yayfred told me,

Q And you still associate with her? A Yes, sir, I never

vas on the street with Joseph Brenner, because he was no friend

of mine,

G Well you say you were in the store with him? A Yes, sir,
Q@ And you had been in the street together, that"morning,

before you got into the store? A Yes, eir,

BY Mﬁ. CHANLER:

Q Well, were you after -- were you on the street with him

after he stole the pens? A VNo, sir,
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BY THE COURT:

Well, wasn't he with you when you were arreated?

D

A No, sir; he was arrested in the hospital,
BY MR, CHANLER:

Q How many times about did you go by that store, by day
or night, with or without thie girl, after you and Brenner had
been in there? A Why, every day I passed by that store,
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, EDER:

Ql You say that Brenner told Mayfred, and she told you
about those pens? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you hear Joseph Brenner testify? A Yes, eir,

0 - And did you hear him say that he wrote you a letter
about those pens, and told you not to tell Mayfred about it?

A No, sir; I don't remember hearing him say that, I was

’
sitting there, but I didn't hear him say that, He never
wvrote me and told me not to tell Mayfred, because Mayfred
didn't --
You didn't hear him say thaty A No, sir,

L At the time that you were in the store, was it about
gseven o'clock in the morning? A Yes,

Q Did you ever go out at seven.o'clock before that?
A Yes, 8ir; lots of mornings,
Q You dopft work? A No, sir; I don't work, but I used

to eat my breakfast at seven o'clock in the morning lots of

times,
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Q we%l, did you seek any employment? A 'k;, 8ir; be-
cause I only came to New York on a vieit,

Q Yet you got up at seven o'clock in the morning to eat
your breakfast? A Yes, sir,
BY THE COURT:

Q Ho™ long were you in New York at this time? A Since
the 12th day of November,
BY MR, EDER:

Q How did you support yourself? A VWhy I had money sent
me from Boston,

Q By whom? A By a friend,

Q@ Whatfriend was that, who was it? A A gentleman friend,

Q When did you first meet Mayfred Brenner? A In the

show business, in the circus business, long ago,
Q And when did you first meet Joseph Brenner? A Vhen I

came to New York,

BY THE COURT:

You say that you lived upstairs in the =same house,
above them? A Yes, 8ir,
. Q@ And why did you say that you lived at 503 West 147th

Street? A.. Because we movéd,from Bradhurset Avenue befsre I

as arrested, When Joseph Brennér was taken to the hospital,
we went to 147th Street, and took a room together, '
BY MR, EDER:

Q - Now, officer Birmingham didn't know Joseph Brenner's

pame at the time you were arrested, did he? A No, sir,
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Q And he asked you the name of the man who wae in the etore,

on the morning of the theft of the pens, and you told him?

A TNo, sir; the landledy told him the name, and he asked May-
fred Brenner if they were married, and she said no, and I said
no. And he said, "I thought you said she wasn't married",
when he found out the name of Joseph Brenner,

Q@ Didn't he ask you for the name of the man who was in the
store with you? A Yes, sir,

7 And you refused to give it to hime? A Yes, eir; and I
told him I wasn't the girl that was in the store, that morning,

Q Well you wanted to lie yourself out, didn't you? A.
It was to detective McCormick I admitted it, !

Q Were you afraid to say you were in the store that morn--
ing? A No, eir; I waen't, If he had asked me in a gentle-
manly way I would have told him, He came in and demanded it,
and I didn't know that I was supposed to answer any of his

uestions,

0 And you didn't know at that time that he had stolen
anything? A Yes, sir; when the officer came to arrest me;
yes, I did, then, i

6 Didn't you meet Brenner that same morning? A FNo, s8ir;
I didn't meet him that same morning,

Q Didn't you meet him in the apartment of Mayfred Brenner?

A No, sir,

Q When did you again see Brenner that day? A That after-~
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noon,

Q What did he say to you? A He didn't say anything,

Q Did you ask him why he left you so suddenly? A Yes;

and he said he wae going downtown on bueiness,

Q When dil he say thatt A In the afternoon, in §he
house,

Q@ Did he say good-bye to you when he left the store?
A No, sir; he didn't,

O The first thing you asked him for was a birthday card,
is that right? A Yes, sir,

Q And after that little girl bothered around for a card,

you asked for views? A FNo, sir, .

BY THE COURT: -

Q Well what did you buy, as a matter of fact? A A package
of rerfecticn cigarettes,
BY KR, EDER:

0 And all you had was that nickel? A Yes, eir; but I
had been out the night before and I didn't know that I had left
my money in the big pocketbook, |
BY THE COURT:

Q@ Who were the cigﬁrettea for? A Myself,
BY MR, EDER:

n Now you mnever had any trouble with officer Birmingham

peforethis, did you? A No, eir; I never seen him before,

BY THE COURT:




Q And you never saw that girl in the shop before you went E

in there? A ©No, sir; never, UNot until that morning when I

went in with Brenner,

BY MR. EDER:
Q Did Mayfred Brenner say that she had ever been inthat

store before? A No, sir; and the giil 8aid she never was in

there before, until the night we were arrested

=

Q Did you tell officer Birmingham that Brenner took the
box up on.the roof and broke it open and took out the pens?
A VNo, sir; 1 said that he said he went next door to the store,
on the roof, and he broke the case open, and with that he
went downtown,

0 Now how often had you come down to the Brenner apartment?
A Oh, I would be dovn there most every dgy.

Q And when you atarted your examination you said that Joe
Brenner went early th“t morning to look for work? A Well, I
only know what I was told,

Q Vhen did he tell you that? A VWhen I came home from
the store I said to Mayfred, "Is Joe home yet?" And she said
“Nov, And I said, "VWell, I seen him up the avenue", And :
she sald, "Vell, he left here early this morning to look for
a job", And that's how- I know he went to look for a job. |

Q Do you know Mayfred Brenner's bueinese? A I know she
was in the theatrical business, When I left it, she wae in
the theatrical bueinese, two years ago in September, 1914,

¥
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Q Do you know what her business was while you lived 1n4
that house? A Why, she used to stay home, She didn't
have any employment whatever,

Q Didn't you and she walk the streets? A What dohyou
mean? Night or day?

Q Night and day? A Well, we walked the streete when we
had any busineses to do, We didn't walk the streets, except
when we went ocut on business, a

Q VWere you out until twelve o'clock at night, walking the
streefe? A No, sir,

Q@ Or eleven o'clock? A Yes, sometimes,

Q And you did that every night, didn't youy A  No, seir,
we did that on occasions; when we went to the theatre we walked
the street, )

Q She was your constant companion; wasn't she? A Yes,
I never went out with no other girl while I have been in New
York.

0 Did you esk her how she got her money? A WNo, sir; I
didn't, because I thought she was married,

O Did she ever ask you how you got your moneyt “A Why,
she knev that I had money sent to me, I used to let her
read my mail,

Q Who did youtget the money from? A Charles Chrystie,

a fellow in Boston,

Q Were you married to himy A No, sir,
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Q Are you married? A WNo, eir; I am not,

BY PHE COURT:

0 What dii you say about ueing your maiden name? Didn"t

you say that you were married? A Well, I told Birmingham that
I wés married, and gave my name as Marian O'Neill.
BY WR. EDER:

Q Now do you know how many pens he sold or pawned? A No,
gir; and I don't know how many he got.

@ At the time that Mayfred told you, did ehe ‘mention the
number of pene he got? A No, sir,

Q Or how much money he got ocut of it? A No, sir; she
never did.

Q . And did you receive a letter in which he stated the

number of rens he took? A No,

Q Well, what did he state in that letter? A Why, he
just stated that he took those pens for room remt,

Q And he vrote you that letter? A Yes, sir,

Q How soon after he had gone to the hospital? A Oh, he
mrote a letter to Mayfred, and then wrote me a friendly letter,
the same day, and told me about it, maybe a week after he
went to the hospital,

O  Didn't you vieit him in the hospital? A Yes, the' Bunday
before he came out, it

Q And did he tell you anything about the pens at the

hospital? A VNo, sir,




9 49
Q Did you write him asking Ehether anybody owed him
any money about the pens? A No, eir; I never wrote to him in

my life, or asked him about the pens,

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR,CHANLER:

Q Now you arzsiiving in the same room with Brenner and the
defendant Mayfred Brenner, were you? A No, sir,

Q At that time? A No, sir; I waen't living in the
room with them at any time,

Q@ Now there has been some confusion, in my mind at least,
28 to the various addresses that you have testified to living
at, Now let us clear that up, vWhere did you go when you
first came to New York? A I lived first at 145th Street,
BY THE COURT:

Q- What number? A 506, I think it is, 145th Street,
BY MR. CHANLER:

Q@ And from there vwhere dié you go? A To Bradhurst Avenue,

Q And who was living there then? A Mayfred and Joseph
Brenner,

0 And ho~ long did they renmain there? A Why there were
there quite & while before I went there, and the landlady
said --

Q Never mind about the landlady,

BY THE COURT:

Q How long did you stay there, he asked you, A -About
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three weeks, 1
BY MR, CHANLKR:

0 And thenwhat happened, if anything, after Brenner went
to the hospital? A \Mayfred was alone then at Edgecombe
Avenue, where she lived, “he moved from Bradhurst Avenue,

Q When did she moveys A She moved from there-a week
from the day Joaephv-—

0 Andwhere diZ you go then? A I stayed at Bradhurst
Avenue where I was living,

Q And she left Bradhurst Avenue and went to another place?
A Yes, sir; to Edgecombe Avenue,

@ And then Brenner went to the hospital? A Yes, sir;
and Mayfred said to me that she was alone, and 8o we took a
room together at 147th Street, while Brenner was in the
hospital,

Q@ Now are all these places that you have mentioned quite
near the astore? A Yes, sir,

Q In other words you didn't try to run away from the

store? A No, sir; I passed the store every day,

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, EDER:

Q When the little girl said, "That's ‘the girl took my
pens", did you hear Mrs. Brenner say, "You hawe to prove 1t"?
A No, seir,

Q Did you make that remark? A WNo, eir; I didn,t make
that rermark at all.
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MAYFRED DODDS, indicted as Mayfred Brenner,
one of the defendants, of 503 West i47th Street, being
duly sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMIVATION BY MR, CHAFLER:

Q What ies your name? A Mayfred Dodds.

BY THE COURT:

Q Why did you give the name of Mayfred Brenner? A Because I
was living with Mr. Brenner.
BY MR, CHAFNLER: -

Q You were living with the defendant Brenner at the time
testified to by Brenner as to h{s having been to thi; store
and stealing the pens, were you? A Yes, sir.

QDid you know anything about his going to that store to steal
those pens, before he went? A No, sir.

Q Had you been to the store the day before, or had you
started to go there, to help him steal those pens? A wo, sir.
Q Had you been out of the house at all, the day before?

A No, eir.

Q Or the day before that? A No, =ir,

Q Why not? A Because I had been sick in bed.

Q Had you ever refused to help him eteaf\ﬁhoae pens, be-
cause you had lost your nerve? A No, sir,

Q When was the first time that you learned, if ever, that

Brenner had stolen those pens? A On the even ﬁg of that day.

BY THE COURT:

Q What day? A Saturday, November 27th,
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Q The day they were stolen? A The day they were
stolen.

BY MR. CHAVLER:

Q What happe ned then? A Mr. Brenner came home about
six o'clock, and then he told me about taking the pens. He
told me he took them in the morning.

Q Did he give you any of those pens? A No, seir.

Q Did you knowingly or wilfully accept any of the proceeds
of those pens, knowing that they were stolen by Brenner?
A wo,sir.

Q And did you understand that he had a brother who supplied
him with funds? A Yes, I understood that.

Q Did you ever ask the Chrystie girl, the co-defendant here,
to go out with Brennér and help him steal those pens? A §o, eir,
I 4idn't.

i
Q Did you have anything, directly or indirectly, to do with

the stealing of those pens? 4 No, sir.

-
CROSS EYAMINATION BY VMR. EDER:
o

Q Was it in the evening.or aft;?noon of that day, that
you saw Joseph Brenner? A In the evebing, between five and
gix o'clock.

Q And 4id the Chrystie girls speak with you that night?
A ¥No, eir.

Q And didn't you wake up, and say to her, "I am sick. You

g0 out with him to-day,."? a No, asir
. o
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Q Now, how long had you been living with Brenner? A About
five weeks.
Q And how long did you livewith him after he atole those
pens? A About t wo weekse.
Q Even though he told you, that night that he stole
those pens, you continued to live with him? A I did.
Q I suppose that they were stolen to heip pay your room
rent; were they not?
¥R, CHANLER: I object to that supposition/
THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. EDER:

Q Were they stelen to pay your room rent? A I don't know,.

Q Didn't you ask him why'he took those pens? A I‘Fid.

Q And what did Ne say? A He.eaid, "Well, we needed the
money/*

Q Afd 4idn't you ask him how many he toek? A I did.

Q And what number 11d.$e gav he took? A From eighteen to
twenty. And he told me he pawned some, and some he gzave to
a friend. i

Q And did he give you any of that money? A Not that I
know of.

Q And 4id he give you any money, that day, at allX A No.

Q Did you see the Chrystie Cirl, that morning? A About
eleven o'clock, I did,

Q And 4i4 she tell you that she was with Brenner? A She told

me that ehe met him on the avenue.
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Q And did she tell you that she W#ent in the store with
him? A Yes, she did.

Q And did she tell you that he suddenly disappeared? A She
said, "when I went to buy the postal cards, I turned around, and
Joe was gone,"

Q And she didn't tell you that he took the pens, then?

A No, sir.

Q And did you give the name of Joseph Brenner to the
police officers?A I did.

Q When they asked who the man wes that was in the store
with Marian Chrystie, did you say Joseph Brenner? A Yes,

Q To whom 3id you say that? A Detective McCormick.

Q And did you also tell him that he stole those pens?
A T 4idnot.
Q Did you tell him where Joseph Brenner was? A I did.
Q Now, how long have you been out of work, how long is it

since you worked? A Since the middle of October, somewhere around

the 13th or 15th.

Q And when did you work before that? A I left the show in Boston.
in the middle  of the year.
Q In the middle of what year 7 A 1915,
Q What show were you with? A With the "Babe Marian"
Show, a burlesque.
Q@ And how long were you with that show? A 11 that

aeason.

Q And 4id you work before that season? A Yes, sir.
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Q With a show? A No.

Q At what? A I worked 4in a printing place in Boston,
on State Street.

Q And ever since you left that show, you have been living
with Brenner? A Yes. I came on to New York when I left the
show,

Q Did you know him before that? A Yes, gir.

Q Where did you meet him? A Boston.

Q And he brought you to New York, didn't he? A No, sir.

Q@ Did you both come togg}berwto New York? A No, sir.

Q Who came here first? A I came here, and Mr, Brenner was
here,

Q He was here when you came hers? A Yes, sir.

Q And did you know where he lxyed?YA I did not.

Q How did you meet him, over here? A I met him through a
letter from Boston. A party in Boston sent me his address.
7 Q And then you went to meet him? A I met him. I wrote to
him, and met him,

v Q And you both lived together? A Yés, sir.
BY MR, EDER: - That is all.

MR. CHANLFTR: The Defense rests/
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REBUTTAL,

JOSEPH BREUNNER, being recalled by the
District Attorney for further oross examination,
testified as follows:

CROSS EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. EDER:

Q Now, did you write a letter to Marian Chrystie, telliﬁém
her that you had stolen the pens, and that she should not
tell Mayfred Brenner anything about it? A Well, I told her not
to tell anyhody about it.

Q (Question repeated) A I told her not to tell anybody .

about it.

Q And you wrote the letter to her?! A Yés, sir.

Q And at that time Mayfred Brenner didn't know that

you had stolen the pens; is that right?
MR. CHAVLER: I o;;ject to that.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR, EDER:
Q You had not told lrs.»Brenﬁer at that time that you had
stolen the pens? A I hadn't told anybody. P \
MR, EDER: she People rest.
MR, CHAVLER: We rest, and T renew each
and every motion that I make, at the close of
the people's case, if your Honor please.
THE COURT: Well, I will submit the case

to the jury. I do not think that the proof is
clear as to whether the property was worth ovor/

|




57

»

fifty dollars.
MR. EDER: Very well, sir, We elect then to go to the

jury as receiving stolen goods or petty larceny.
.

THE COURT: Very well.

MR, CHANLER: And I take an exception to your Honor's
refusal to take the case from the jury as to either petty
larceny or receiving stolen goods.

THE COURT: Very well,

SR —
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THE COURT'S CHARGE:
' IULQUEENL J.

Gentlemen‘of the Jury:

The defendants were indicted with Joseph Brenner,
and charged with the orime of grand larceny in the second
degree, and also with the crime of criminally receiving
stolen property, knowing the same to have be:n stolen,

The first count alleges that, on the 27th of November,
1915, in the County of New York, they stole thirty fountain
pens, of the value of two dollars each, of the goods,
chattels and personal property of Iseael Schenker,

Now, the Statute defining larceny is referred to in
the indictment, and it is a very plain law, It says that
one who takes the property of another, with the intent to
deprive the other of it, with intent to appropriate it to
the use of the taker or anyone else than the true owner,
steals that property, and is guilty of larceny.

There are two elements, then, in larceny: The taking
of personal property, and then the intent of the taker to
deprive the true owner of the property,

Joseph Brenner hae testified here in corroboratdon
of the story of the complaining witness, stating that he
went into that store with the Chrystie girl, and, while

she was lookingz at some postal carde, he stole a box of

pene, but I do not think that we were able to get the
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number of pens from him, The complaining witness said

they were from twenty to twenty:§ive pens, and the value
/

was given by her at $3.75 a pen, to make up a value of

$55., The indictment says that thirty pens, of the
value of Si‘iach, were stolen,

Th; value is unimportant, as far as the character of
the crime is concerned, because the stealing of one pen,
of the value of fifty cents, would be larceny, but it
would be petit larceny and not grand larceny in the
second degree, If the value of the property was more
than fifty dollars, it would be grand larceny in the
second degree, But value is an élement that must be »
proved clearly, beyond a reasonable doubt, in determining
the degree of larceny committed; and, as I have said,
the testimony as to value is so unsatisfactory that we
%ill have to reduce the orime charged to petit larceny;
and 80 it is charged that pens of the value of less than
fiffy dollars were stolen , and that the offense in that
respect committed was petit larceny.

The rule of law is that, if two or more personscom-
bine to commit a ocrime, and do coumit a cfime, they are
all equally gzuilty, If two or more persons should agree
to break and enter your house, tonight, and two of them

etood outside, to watch for the police, while the other

man broke in, they would be equally guilty of burglary;
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and, if the man who entered, broke and entered, committed
a murder in the house, the oghgrs would be equally guilty
of murder,. That is, if a person agrees with another to
commit a crime, and does anything to aid or abet in the
commis2ion of that crime, he is equally guilty with the
one who actually cormits the crime,

S0, if these two defendante agreed with Joseph
Brenner to commit that larceny, to steal that property,
and aided and abetted in the commission of that orime,
they are just as guilty as he, even if, as appears here,
the Brenner girl did not go to the store, but the Chrystie
woman did,

Now, first, it is for you to find out whether there
wa8 any larceny committed, and, esecond, whether Joseph
Brenner alone was concerned in it, or whether these two
women were concerned with him in it,

You understand that this action is brought by the
People of the State of New York, That means organized
society, all the people living in the State. The People
of the State are orgzanized for their own protesction, so
that decent men and women may enjoy their lives, may
engage in business, and be secure from unjust and unlaw-
ful interference on the part of others, and the People of

the State of New York owe a duty to that shopkeeper to

keep his goods eafe, so that he, in his humble way, may
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work out his own salvation, and have the benefit of the

sale of those pens for tﬁe support of his wife and family

vEyN

an& himself, so that the protection of the Government,

and the blessinge of living in a country like this might

be enjoyed by him, and so they make a law that no one shall
steal his property, and that, if they do;'thqy'mggy take
the consequences, and the consequences are left to the
Court, if there is a conviction,

The law asks you to be absolutely honest men, prompted
only by your high sense of duty, not partisans of one side
or the other, It is the duty of the Court to see that
the defendants receive a fair trial, and to instruct you
in the law, It is your duty to take the law from the

Court, and the facts from the witnesses, You must de-

cide what witnesses, if any, told the truth here, and what
witnesses, if any, did not tell the truth, either through
accident or intention, Ifyou believe that any witness
wilfully made statements which were not true as to a
materizl point in this case, then that witness was guilty
of perjury, and you may reject all of his or her tes-
timony, |

There i3 no rigid rule which can be used in determin-
ing the oredibility of witnesses, The jurors have to

. o

use their own good sense and sound judgment, You have

to determine for yourselves how much credit you will
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accord these witnesses, how much you will trust them,
what witneases are worthy of your confidence.

You saw the young lady, the complaining witness, on
the stand. She told you ;h; she is, that she is working,
earning an honssf Yivelihood, and is etudying, anxious to
get along in the world, and is working for her father in
the store, when not attending High School, She told
you what she says these defendants did and said at the
time of the arrest, and several days before that, and
also what- the co-defendant, Joseph Brenner did, at the time
of the larceny; and that she identified the right people,
the People claim,is shown by the fact that she caused their
arrest, and that tﬁe stolen goods were found by reasdn of
the arrest, and the People claim that she made no mistake
in th? identity of the thief who stole the pens,

Any statement made by any witness, previous to the
trial, may be used at the time of the trial, to show
whether that witness made any statement contradictory of
their testimony here, You heard the testimony of the
police officers, and the compiaining witness, as 'to the
statements these defendants made in the store at the
time of the arrest, The rule of law is that any
voluntary statement made by 3 defendant, if it is not

produced by threats or force, or coerecion, or promise of

immunity, is admiesible, There is no testimony here
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as to any threat or coercion being used, or promise of
immunity being made, and so, if you believe that statements
were made, in the presence of the complaining witness, by
either éf these girls,; then you may determine what force
or effect you will give those statements in coming to a
conclusion as to the guilt or innocence of the defﬁndants.
It is your duty, therefore, to take into consideration all
the evidence on both sides.

vhen Joseph Brenner testifies here, you should remem-
ber that he is a self-confessed thief, that he has served
time before, and that is only on;the question of his cred-
ivility. The law is that you may consider any vicious,
or immoral or criminal conduct on the part of any witness,
iﬁ determining his credibility, The woman defendﬁgt
Brenner lived with Joseph Brenner as his wife, and that you
may consider as to whether you will believe her, or the
complaining vitnean, who, as far as appears here, is a
decent, respectable gzirl,

Now,can the police officer claim any credit in this
case for the arreef? The complaining witness eimply
called him in to make the arrest, and it is for you to
determine whether he had any mogive, whether a desire to
claim credit for this arrest or for any other reason, to
commit perjury in this case; or whether, if the complaining

witnees is testifying falsely, she has any motive to do
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that; or whether the defendants, being caught red-
handed in the commission of crime, as alleged by the
People, have added another crime to\that with which they
are charged, namely, perjury,; and you may consider their
charactér as far as the evidence in this case goes, in
determining how much oredit“you will gl;q them, . . For
that is your great function, you paéé'én5¥he credibility
of the witnesses. You take the facts from the witnesses
and pass on the credibility of the witnesses, Select
the witnesses éhat you believe, not arbitrarily, but by
a careful analysis of their teatimongﬁ or in any othef
way that appezls to your judgment, In other words, you
are to weight this evidence cooly and calmly, without
beinz partisans of either side, You must resolve: to
render an honest verdict, If you are :ully satisfied,
as honest men, to a moral certainty, beyond a reasonable
doubt, that the defendants are guilty, then you must
pronounce them guilty, begause then the reople have met the
burden that 1s put on them by the law, You know that
the rule of law is that the defendants are presumed to be
innocent, until the contrary is proved; and, if the
evidence fails to satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt
that they are guilty, you must acquit them, But, if
éhe evidence does-eatiafy you, as honest men, beyond a

reasonable doubt, that they are guilty, it is your duty
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to pronounce them guilty, and, otherwise, not guilty.

1f you should have a reasonable doubt as to whether
or not these defendants were actually concerned in the
larceny, if you ohoﬁld conclude that Joseph Brenner alone
committed the larceny, then there is the evidence of their
alleged admissions that they each got one of these stolep
pens, On their own statement, they were familiar with‘
Joseph Brenner'swmgondition, that he needed money'to pay
room rent, and if they knev that he had stolen the pens,
and each of them received one of the pens from him, then
they are guilty of criminally receiving stolen property,
knowing the property to have been stolen, Our la;
- makes it a crime for anyone to receive stolen property,
with the gzuilty knowledge that it is stolen, If a man
should go out, and steal a dozen pens, and bring them back
and tell another that he had stolen them, and he should
zive one of those pens to that person, and that person
knowingly received that pen, knowing it to have been stolen,
then that person would be guiltyggf4criminally receiving
stolen goods,

1f you have a reasonable doubt of their guilt u;dor
the firet count of the indictment, you must acquit them
of grand larceny in the sgcond degree. Then you may
take up the guestion of receiving stolen property, knowing

3

the same to have been stolen, and, if you find that they
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each received a ren from Brenner, knowing the poé to
have been stolen, you may convict them of criminally
réceiving stolen property, knowing the same to have been
stolen, and, if you have a reasonable doubt on that sub-
ject you should acjuit them,

A reasonable doubt is not a surmise or guess, or a
doubt based on a desire to avoid doing a disagreoible duty,
and these defendants are presumed to b2 innocent until
proved gullty beyond a reasonable doubt b} the evidence.

n°w;€§§ succesaful administration of the criminal
law depends the welfare of the State, and it is absolutely
necessary that jurors should be honorable and honest men
in the performance of their very important duty. The
facts you take from the witnesses, apd yéu determine their
credibility., You determiné thé¥i¥~character, and what
witnesses you will believe, just 28 you determine the
credibility, the character of those with whom you deal in
the most important affaires of your own life, and, having
'dcne that, weizh the evidence solely with a desire to find
thé truth, to do your duty, to sepeak truly, and then,
when you have arrived at a firm conviction as to the guilt
or innocence of the defendants, speak truly, If you
have a reasonable doubt of their guilt of any crime charged

in thie indictment, acquit them, If you are convinced,

beyond a reasonable doubt, that they were concerned in the
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larceny, say so, and find them guilty of petit larceny.
If you do not believe them to be guilty of petit larceny,
you may consider the question of criminally receiving
stolen property, knowing the same to have been stolen,
and you can either find them guilty of criminally receiving
stolen property,knowiné the same to have been stolen, or
not guilty, according as you view the evidence. But
you have no right to disregard the law or the evidence,
or to be swayed by any.thought except a desire to do your
duty. So then be honest men, conscientious jurors, and
weigh the evidence calmly and carefully, and render an
honest verdict; and, when an honest verdict is rendered,
whether it be guilty or not guilty is immaterial, the law
is complied with, and it is conducive to the welfare of
the whole State, but otherwise not, So be honest men,
and render an honest verdict, either of not guilty or
guilty, and, if you find them guilty, fix the crime of
which you find them guilty,

MR, CHANLER: I desire, with great respect, to
except to that portion of your Honor's charge in which
you said, in éubstance, that the defendants were caught
red-handed in the commission of a crime, Their testi-
mony is that they were innocently on the street,

THE COURT: No,. I did not say that, I said that it

was8 for the jury to decide whether they were innocent
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persons, telling the truth, or crizinals, caught red-
handed, and seeking to evade punishment, and that they
must determine that guestion from the evidence,

MR, CHANLER: I except to the use of the word "red-
handed", ‘ .

THE COURT: Well, I will withdraw tHat expression,
But they were caught, they were arrested,; and now does
the evidence satisfy you, gentlemen of the jury, that they
were caught properly? Are they honest women, and, when
they take the stand, do they testify truthfully? Are
they entitled to your confidence, as truthful witnesses,
or are they criminals seeking to avoid the consequences
of their crime? That 13 for you to decide, and decide
it as if it affected the most important affairs of your
own life, honestly and truly, and without any thought or
feelin: except a desire to do your full duty, I did not
say that they were criminals, I said that it was for the
jury to decide whether they were innocent women or
criminals caught in the act, You are the sole and
absolute judges of the facts, gentlemen, I have nothing
to do with the facts, My duty is to see that the de-
fendants receive a\ﬁair trial, and they have had a fair
trial, and it is your duty to take the law from the Couft,
and the facts you take from the witnesses,

Any requests, Mr, Eder?
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MR, EDER: ¥, sir,

THE COURT: Any requesta, kr, Chanler?

MR, CHANLER: No, sir,

THE COURT: You may pass out, gentlemen,
(The jury retired at 3:45 P, M,)

(The jury returned at 4:45 P, M., finding the de-

fendants guilty of petit larceny.)

THE COURT: Now, Mr, Chanler, do you want to make
your motions now, or on the day of sentence?

MR, CHANLER: On the day of sentence,

~-

- === 000000 ===
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